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Independent auditor’'s report
to the directors of Yunnan Jinxun Resources Co., Ltd.
(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yunnan Jinxun Resources Co., Ltd.
*( EReEERIRGERAT ) (‘the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on
pages 4 to 87, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position of the Group
and the statements of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and
2024 and 30 June 2025, the consolidated statements of profit or loss, the consolidated
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated staiements of
changes in equity and the consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the years ended
31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the six months ended 30 June 2025 and notes,
including material accounting pelicy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the Company’s
and the Group's financial position as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025
and of the Group’s consclidated financial performance and the Group’s consolidated cash
flows for each of the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the six months
ended 30 June 2025 in accordance with the basis of preparation and presentation sef out in
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Keng Standards on Auditing ("HKSASs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA™). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor's responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code") together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in the People’s Republic of China, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

* For identification purposes only
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Emphasis of Matter —~ Basis of Preparation and Presentation

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, which describes the basis
of preparation and presentation. The consolidated financial statements are prepared for the
purpose of the preparation of a prospectus by the directors of the Company in connection with
the initial public offering of shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. As a result, the consolidated financial statements may not be suitable
for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other matter

We draw attention to the fact that the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the six months ended 30
June 2024 and any of the related notes have not been audited.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the basis of preparation and
presentation set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements and for such internal
control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consclidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. The report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw atiention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors of the Company regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

\ce )

8th

Floor, Prince's Building

Central, Hong Kong

31 December 2025



Consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
(Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”))

Years ended 31 December Six months ended 36 June
Note 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'C00 RMB'000
{unaudited}
Revenue 4 637,303 675,701 1,769,833 595,965 963,785
Cost of sales (466,810) {545,558) {1,402,165) (450,312) (741,105)
Gross profit . 170,493 130,143 367,667 145,653 222,680
Other income 5 6,332 3,131 1,865 1,265 818
Other gains and losses 6 (7,601} (35,255) (7,i01) 15,237 11,555
Distribution and selling expenses (9,498} (10,159) (11,626) (5,163} (6,252)
Administrative expenses (44,206} (48,175) (81,173) {36,265) (59,552)
Profit from operations 115,520 39,685 289,632 120,727 169,249
Finance costs 7(a) (6,811} (13,410) {26,870) {12,218} (8,045)
Share of losses of an associate 15 (14,823) (252) - - -
Profit before taxation 7 93,886 26,023 242,762 108,509 161,204
Income tax 8 (10,382) 3,123 {40,324) {15,425) (26,222)
Profit for the year/period 83,504 29,146 202,438 93,084 134,982
Other comprehensive income for
the yeariperiod
Item that are or may be
reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation
of financial statements of overseas
subsidiaries 15,941 3,442 3464 1,197 (1,550)
Other comprehensive income for
the year/period 15,941 3,442 3,464 1,197 (1,550)
Total comprehensive income for
the year/period 99,445 32,588 205,902 94,281 133,432
Earnings per share
Basic and diluted {(RMB) 11 0.81 0.27 1.84 0.84 1.22

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.



Consolidated statements of financial position

(Expressed in RMB)

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Right-of-use assets

Interest in an associate

Deferred tax assets

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Current assets

inventories

Trade receivables at amortised cost

Trade receivables at fair value through
profit or loss ("FVTPL")

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Time deposit

Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities

Trade payables at amortised cost
Trade payables designated at FVTPL
Accrued expenses and other payables
Contract liabilities

Income tax payable

Bank and other borrowings

Lease liabilities

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Net current (liabilities)/ assets

Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liahilities

Bank and other borrowings

Lease liabilities

Provision for restoration, rehabilitation
and environmental costs

Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

Note

17
18

18
19
20

24
25

27

At 31 December At June 30

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
339,428 504,961 617,621 654,834
- 7.608 9,433 9,634

6,046 20,223 20,160 20,333
252 - - -
6,405 14,459 11,041 12,199
46,141 45,150 36,196 53,747
398,272 582,401 694,451 750,747
56,417 182,357 432,129 423,557
1,174 491 264 2,204
43,161 25,084 36,517 39,743
58,910 42 609 81,554 114,148
- - 5,000 6,050
79,062 38,876 123,901 126,510
238,724 290,417 679,365 712,212
29,317 56,241 82,8568 106,422
28,481 82,036 271,527 191,248
78,171 93,439 104,402 99,968
33,495 27,989 62,782 84,735
11,176 10,855 34,848 39,131
81,485 195,505 207,171 176,167
695 250 90 139

246 66 - 107
263,066 466,381 763,688 697,917
(24,342) (175,964) (84,323) 14,295
373,930 416,437 610,128 765,042
5,904 17,706 61,456 69,019
529 78 - 401
3,581 9,380 10,746 22,123
3,442 - 2,944 4,758
13,456 27,164 75,146 96,301
360,474 389,273 534,982 668,741

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.



Consolidated statements of financial position (continued)

(Expressed in RMB)

At 31 December At June 30
Note 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'C00 RMB'000

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 29 110,297 110,297 110,287 110,297
Reserves 29 250,177 278976 424 685 558,444
TOTAL EQUITY 360,474 389,273 534,982 668,741

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 December 2025,

1 & S

Name: Mr. Yuan Rong Name: Ms. Yuan Mei

Director Director

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.



Statements of financial position of the Company

(Expressed in RMB)

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Investments in subsidiaries

Deferred tax assets

Prepayments, deposils and other
receivables

Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables at amortised cost

Trade receivables FVTPL

Prepayments, deposits and cther
receivables

Time deposit

Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities

Trade payables at amortised cost
Trade payables designated at FVTPL
Accrued expenses and cther payables
Contract liabilities

Income tax payable

Bank and other borrowings

Lease liabilities

Financial labilities at FVTPL

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Note

12
16

19

17
18
18

19
20
20

21
21
22
23

24
25
26

At 31 December At June 30

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
2,615 2,880 1,001 2,639
944 - - -
89,663 124,257 176,814 176,814
759 1,649 16 59

- 294 - 7,311

93,981 129,080 177,831 186,823
4,197 23,276 8,089 30,996
63,590 106,609 103,181 143,299
10,867 8,561 882 87
120,507 98,687 38,640 106,176
- - 5,000 5,000
61,428 9,769 25,220 7.614
260,589 246,902 181,012 293,172
9,736 47,685 7,318 25613
217 957 1,083 -
82,836 37,249 51,588 82,852
869 2,850 169 4,042
1,863 336 2,528 6,600
49,037 41,062 44 572 42,608
304 - - -

246 66 - 107
145,108 130,215 107,268 161,822
115,481 116,687 73,744 131,350
209,462 245,767 251,575 318,173

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.



Statements of financial position of the Company {continued)
(Expressed in RMB)

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilties 25 339 - - .

NET ASSETS 209,123 245,767 251,578 318,173

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital 29 110,297 110,297 110,297 110,297
Reserves 29 98,826 135,470 141,278 207,876
TOTAL EQUITY 208,123 245,767 251,575 318,173

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 December 2025.

-+ f +
| -
TR &
Name: Mr. Yuan Rong Name: Ms, Yuan Mei
Director Director

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statements of cash flows

(Expressed in RMB)

Operating activities

Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangittle assets
Expense for employees share-
based payments
Finance costs
Interest income
Share of losses of an associate
Net foreign exchange
(gains)/losses
Impairment losses/(gains):
- input value added tax (*VAT")
receivables
- other financial assets under
expected credit loss ("ECL")
model
- property, plant and equipment
Losses/{gains) arising on fair value
change of financial
assets/liabilities at FVTPL
Net (gains)/losses on disposal of
property, plant and equipment

Changes in working capital:

Decrease/(increase) in inventories

Increase in trade receivables and
prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Increase/(decrease) in trade and
other payables and accrued
axpenses

Increasef/(decrease) in contract
liabilities

Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

Net cash generated from operating
activities

Years ended 31 December

Six months ended 30 Juhe

Note 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
{unaudited)
93,886 26,023 242,762 108,509 161,204
7{c) 8,670 20,495 41,144 17,759 25,465
7{c) 1,030 989 668 332 332
7{c) - 35 636 243 323
30 - 623 470 236 327
7(a) 6,811 13,410 26,870 12,218 8,045
5 {1,032) {1,309) (175} on (283)
14,823 252 - - -
6 {4,061) 19,692 1,482 (2,037) (9,328)
6 1,930 6,780 (3,774) (1,887) 8,456
6 144 12,467 680 771 704
- - 4,438 - -
9,942 {3.635) 2,213 (12,084) (11,436)
6 (354) (49) 2,062 - 49
24,828 (125,835) (247,048) (103,154)‘ 8,572
(2,150} (10,448) (31,134) (48,515) (22,620)
26,372 98,538 225,443 94,141 (58,190)
29,690 (5,506) 34,793 23,010 21,953
210,529 52,522 301,530 89,451 133,573
28(a) (8,349) (9,193} (8.972) (4,302) {22,040)
202,180 43,329 292 558 85,149

111,533

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statements of cash flows (continued)
(Expressed in RMB)

Years ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
Nofe 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
{unaudited)
Investing activities
Interest received 90 323 175 a1 283
Payments for the purchase of
property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (201,465) (192,718) (171,3886) (73,695) (72,120)
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment, net of
transaction costs 689 110 210 - 119
Net cash used in investing
activities (200,686} {192,285} (171,001) {73,604} (71,718)
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary
shares, net of issuance cost 48,348 - - - -
Increase in time deposits - - {5,000) (5,000) {1,050)
Payments for costs incurred in
connection with the proposed initial
public offering of H shares - - - - (5,726)
(Increase)/decrease in depasits to
secure guarantees granted by third
parties {2.000) 2,000 - - -
Dividends paid to shareholders of the
Company {6,863) (4,412} (60,663) (5,515) -
Proceeds from bank and other
borrowings 20(b) 100,165 262 477 512,170 228,928 147,369
Repayment of bank and other
borrowings 20(b) (81,861) (137,888) {458,700) (220,607) {168,705)
Interest paid 20(b) (6,284) {12,331} (25,962) (5,582) (8,696)
Capital element of lease rentals paid 20(b) (931) (418) (241} (118) (103)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ~ 20(b) {78) (75) {10} (6) {14)
Net cash generated from/{used in)
financing activities 50,496 109,355 (38,408) (7,898) {36,925)
Net increasel/{decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents 51,990 (39,601) 83,151 3647 2,890
Cash and cash equivalents at 1
January 20(a) 27,001 79,062 39,876 39,876 123,901
Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes 71 415 874 151 (281}
Cash and cash equivalents at end
of the year/period 20(a) 79,062 39,876 123,901 43,674 126,510

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

Basis of preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements

Yunnan Jinxun Resources Co., Lid. (EE&SERKRHERLT, the “Company”) was

established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) on 21 January 2010 as a limited
liability company under the laws of the PRC and was converted into a joint stock limited liability
company on 15 July 2016. lts shares have been quoted on the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations (the "NEEQ") since February 2017 (Stock Code: 870844).

The Company and its subsidiaries (fogether, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
mineral processing, smelting and trading of non-ferrous metals.

The statutory financial statements of the Company for the years ended 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024 were prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises issued by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC and audited by RSM China
Accounting Firm (Special General Partnership) (B EsEIEETERZESE)) (‘RSM
China”).

The Company had direct or indirect interests in the following subsidiaries, all of which are
private companies:

The
Place of Particiulars of Group's Held
establfishment Date of registered/ effeclive by the Held by

Name of company and business esteblishment paid-in capital interest Company subsidianes Principal activities

Shanghai Jinxun New Enargy The PRC 3 February RMB10,000,000/ 100% 100% - Invesiment helding
Co., Lid. (Notes (i} and (i)} 2016 RMB 10,000,000 and mining trading
LIB&amHEREIRLE business
(*Shanghai Jirxun"}

Rong Xing Investments Zambta 16 August Zambian Kwacha 100% 99% 1% Smelting, processing
Limited (Notes {iif}) ("Reng 2016 ("ZMW") and sales of cathode
Xing Invastments”} 20,000/ZMW20,000 copper and copper

concentrate

Tibet Huiyi Infermation The PRC 21 February RMBZ0,000,000/ 100% 100% - Mining trading
Technology Co., Lid. 2017 RMB20,000,000 business
{Notes (i) and fiv})) ('Tibet
Huiyi"y
TR E RIS

Jinxun {Singapare) Singapore 25 April Singapore Dollar 100% 100% - Mining trading
Intematianal Trade PTE. 2018 {"SGD") 14,141,374/ business
Ltd. (Notes (v)) {"Jinxun 5GD14,141,374
Singapere™)

Jin Xun Congo Mining SARL  The Democratic 13 August United Statss Dollar 100% - 100% Smelting and sales
(Notes {vi)) Republic of the 2018 {"USL¥)10,000/ of cathode copper

Conge ("DRC"} UsD10,000 and cobalt

Minera Jinxun Peru $.A.C, Peru 14 Oclober Peruvian Nueve Sol 100% 1% 95% Mining trading

(Notes (vif)) 2020 {"SOL") 2,158,054/ business
SOL 2,168,054

Anhui Jinxun New Energy Tha PRC 8 October USD10,000,000/ 100% - 100% Manufacturing and
Material Co,, Ltd, 2022 USD5,499,821 sale of cobalt
(Notes (i) and (i)} related material
TS BHHREHIAL

T (“tinxun Anhui”)
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Basis of preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

Noties:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

These entities were registered as limited liability companies under the laws and
regulations in the PRC. The official names of the entities are in Chinese. The English
translations are for identification only.

The statutory financial staiements of these entities for the years ended 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024 were prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises issued by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC and audited by RSM
China.

The statutory financial statements of the entity for the years ended 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024 were prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and
audited by HLB Zambia Audit Services Limited.

The statutory financial statements of the entity for the years ended 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024 were prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises issued by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC and audited by Anhui

Jinkaicheng Certified Public Accountants (General Partnership) (Zefi& ot ErE TS
Fir (BIEEH)).

The statutory financial statements of the entity for the years ended 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024 were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards in
Singapore and audited by CLA Global TS Public Accounting Corporation.

As at the date of this report, no audited financial statements have been prepared for the
entity.

The statutory financial statements of the entity for the fiscal years ended 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024 were prepared in accordance with I[FRS Accounting Standards.
Financial statements of the entity for the fiscal years ended 31 December 2022 and
2023 were audited by P&S Auditores, Consultores and financial statements of the
entity for the year ended 31 December 2024 was audited by ECOVIS Peru.

All companies now comprising the Group have adopted 31 December as their financial year
end date.

The consolidated financial statements has been prepared in accordance with all applicable
IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the
*|ASB"). Further details of the material accounting policy information are set out in Note 2. As
the Group’s first consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards, IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of international Financial Reporting
Standards” has been applied save for certain presenfation and disclosure provisions therein.
The date of transition to IFRS Accounting Standards was 1 December 2022.
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Basis of preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

The IASB has issued a number of new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards. For the
purpose of preparing this consolidated financial statements, the Group has adopted all
applicable new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards consistently for each of the years
ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and six months ended 30 June 2025 (the “Track
Record Period") , except for any new or revised standards or interpretations that are not yet
effective for the accounting period beginning on 1 January 2025. The revised and new
accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective for the accounting period
beginning on 1 January 2025 are set out in Note 36.

The consolidated financial statements also complies with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all pericds presented
in the consolidated financial statements.

The stub period corresponding financial information of the Group comprises the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the six months ended 30 June
2024 and other explanatory informaticn (the “Stub Period Corresponding Financial
Information”). The Stub Period Corresponding Financial Information has been prepared in
accordance with the same basis of preparation and presentation adopted in respect of the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise indicated.
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(a)

(h)

Material accounting policy information
Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is the
historical cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value
as explained in the accounting policies set out below:

+ Trade receivables and trade payables under provisional priced sales arrangements (see
Note 2(d), 2(I) and 2(n)); and

» derivative financial instruments (see Note 2(d)).
Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting
Standards requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS Accounting Standards that have

significant effect on the consolidated financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.
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(c)

(d)

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Subsidiaries and associate

Subsidiaries are entities conirolled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements consoclidated financial
statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses (except for
foreign currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group fransactions, are
eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the equity method. They are initially
recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequently, the consolidated
financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income ("OCI") of those investees, until the date on which significant influence or joint
control ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group’s interest is
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment
under the equity method together with any other long-term interests that in substance form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated
against the investment to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee. Unrealised losses
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but cnly to the extent there is no evidence
of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost
less impairment losses (see Note 2(h)(ii})), unless it is classified as held for sale {or included in
a disposal group classified as held for sale).

Derivative financial instruments

The Group holds derivative financial instruments t0 manage its commodity price risk
exposures. The Group’s derivative financial instruments mainly include copper future
contracts and those embedded in provisional price arrangements.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value
with changes therein recognised in profit or loss (‘FVTPL").

Provisional price arrangements are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently, they are
measured at FVTPL. (see Note 2(l) and Note 2(n)).
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(e)

)

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, which includes capitalised borrowing costs,
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses (see Note 2(h)(ii}).

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then
they are accounted for as separate items (major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is récognised in profit
or loss.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets other than construction in
progress less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method.

The estimated useful lives for the Track Record Period for property, plant and equipment (other
than construction in progress) are as follows:

Estimated useful lives

Buildings 10 - 20 years
Machinery equipment 10 years
Electronic, transportation equipment and others 3 -5years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date
and adjusted if appropriate.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment under construction, which
is stated at cost [ess accumulated impairment losses (see Note 2(h)(ii)). Capitalisation of
construction costs ceases and the construction in progress is transferred to property, plant and
equipment when substantially all of the activities necessary to prepare the assets for their
intended use are completed. No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in progress
until it is substantially completed and ready for its intended use.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses (see Note 2(h)(ii)).

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual
values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, if any, and is generally
recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives of the exploitation certificate are determined based on the validity
period of the exploitation certificate. The estimated useful lives for the exploitation certificate
are 16 years.

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and adjusted if
appropriate.
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(9)

(i)

Material accounting policy information {continued)
Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease.
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obfain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease componeni(s) and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components and accounts for each lease component and
any associated non-lease componenis as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capifalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of
the lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing
rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially measured at cost,
which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from
a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes its
assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

in the consolidated statements of financial position, the current portion of long-term lease

liabilities is determined as the present value of contractual payments that are due to be settled
within twelve months after the reporting period.
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(h)
0

Material accounting policy information {continued)
As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental {o the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. Otherwise, the lease
is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group alloccates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
The rental income from operafing leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis
over the term of the leases.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs”) on financial assets
measured at amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables measured
at amortised cost, input VAT receivables, other receivables, deposits and bank deposit and
bank balances).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expecis {o
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following discount rates where the effect
of discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables: effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual perlod
over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are [osses that are expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the
expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months); and

- lifetime ECLs:  these are losses that are expected to result from all possible default

evenis over the expected lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

22



Material accounting policy information (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the
following, which are measured at 12-months ECLs:

- financial instruments that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other financial instruments for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the
expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables measured at amoriised cost are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when measuring ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment, that includes forward-looking
information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is heid); or

- the financial asset is 90 days past due.

The Group considers a financial instrument to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating
is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to refiect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for
all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a
loss allowance account, except FVOCI (with recycling) financial assets.

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A

financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

23



(ii)

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;
- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have
an adverse effect on the debtor: or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

. Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset, lease receivable or contract asset is written off
(either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources
of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-
off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of non-current assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial
assets (other than inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of
other assets or cash-generating units (*CGU"s).

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the

carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts
of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.
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Material accounting policy information (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU
or a group of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but not to
an amount exceeding the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inveniories are determined on the following bases:

- Purchased copper related materials and all other materials, including spare parts and
consumables, are valued on weighted average basis.

- Finished products are valued at raw material cost plus costs of conversion, comprising
labour costs and an attributable proportion of manufacturing overheads based on normal
levels of activity.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less any estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as cost of
sales in the period in which the related revenue is recognised.

Environmental rehabilitation

An obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs arises when
environmental disturbance is caused by the development or ongoing production of the
production facilities. Costs arising from facility decommissioning and dismantling, removal or
treatment of waste materials and site and land rehabilitation, discounted to net present value,
are provided for and a corresponding amount is capitalised af the start of each project, as soon
as the obligation to incur such costs arises. These costs are charged to profit or loss over the
life of the operation through the depreciation of the asset and the unwinding of {he discount on
the provision. The cost estimates are reviewed periodically and are adjusted to reflect known
developments which may have an impact on the cost estimates or life of operations. The cost
of the related asset is adjusted for changes in the provision due to factors such as updated
cost estimates, new disturbance and revisions to discount rates. The adjusted cost of the asset
is depreciated prospectively over the life of the operation. The unwinding of the discount is
shown as a finance cost in profit or loss.

Costs for restoration of subsequent site damage which is caused on an ongoing basis during
production are provided for at their net present values and charged to profit or loss as
production progresses. Where the costs of site restoration are not anticipated to be
significant, they are expensed as incurred.
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Material accounting policy information (continued)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-refundable consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue (see Note 2(s)). A contract liability is also
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such latter cases, a corresponding
receivable is also recognised (see Note 2(1)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
and only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or fair value
to other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) or designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Trade receivables under provisional priced sales arrangements are measured at FVTPL.
Considering that the contractual cash flows of trade receivables vary depending on the market
price at the date of final settlement, and do not give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. .

Trade receivables at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period,
with any fair value gains or losses recognlsed in profit or loss and is included in the “other gains
and losses” line item.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, fime deposits with banks and
other financial institutions that are held for meeting short-term cash commitments, and other
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’'s cash management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consoclidated cash flow statement. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for ECL (see Note 2(h)(i)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition,
trade and other payables are stated at amortised cost or at FVTPL.

Trade payables other than those designated at FVTPL and other payables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

For purchase contracts containing one or more embedded derivatives, IFRS 9 permits
designating the entire combined contract as FVTPL.

Trade payables arising from provisional pricing arrangements of copper concentrates
purchase are settled at final prices set at a specified future period after shipment by suppliers
based on prevailing spot prices. These trade payables are designated at FVTPL on contract
by contract basis.
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Material accounting policy information (continued)
Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less transaction costs.
Subsequently, these borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with Note 2(u).

Employee benefits
Short-ferm employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is
recognised for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined coniribution retirement plans are expensed as the
related service is provided.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

The employees of the Group’s overseas subsidiaries are members of the state-managed
retirement benefit schemes operated by local government. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the
benefits.

In addition, certain employees of the Group are members of the state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the PRC government and the Group contributes a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefit.

Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based payments granted to employees is
measured using market approach. The amount is generally recognised as an expense, with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting period of the awards. The amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related
service conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised is based
on the number of awards that meet the related service conditions at the vesting date. The
equity amount is recognised in the capital reserve.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises costs for a restructuring that
involves the payment of termination benefits.
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Material accounting policy information (continued)
Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in
equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss
for the year and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years.
The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount
expected to he paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is
measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax
also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is
not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible femporary differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries and associates to the extent that
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published by the Organization for Economic Co-
operation and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to
its leases and decommissioning obligations;

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal
of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is
insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing tempoerary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for
individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.
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Material accounting policy information {(continued)
Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of ouiflow of economic benefits is
remofe.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to seitle a provision is expected to be
reimbursed by another party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected reimbursement
that would be virtually certain, The amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to the
carrying amount of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale of goods in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product is transferred to the customer at the
amount of promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding
those amounts collected on behalf of third parties such as value added tax or other sales taxes.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition policies are as follows:
(i)  Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when control of the goods has transferred
based on the terms of the sale contracts. In most cases, the conirol of goods is
transferred upon delivery when the goods have been shipped from the Group’s premises.
In some other cases, the control of goods is transferred upon delivery at specific
destination ports or plants.

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions and recognises revenue on a
gross basis, including the sale of products that are sourced externally. In determining
whether the Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers whether it obtains
control of the products before they are transferred to the customers. Canirol refers to the
Group’s ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits
from the products.

The Group sells copper products under provisional pricing arrangements where final
grades of copper, gold, silver and cobalt in copper products are agreed based on third-
party examination and final prices are set at a specified date based on market prices.
Revenues are recognised using forward prices for the expected date of final settlement.
The period between revenue recognition and final settlement is within one to three
months. The contractual cash flows of trade receivable vary depending on the market
price at the date of final seftlement, and do not represent solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Consequently, these trade receivables
resulied from provisionally priced contracts are measured at FVTPL.
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Material accounting policy information (continued)
(i) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. The “effective interest
rate” is the rate that exactly discounts estimated fuiure cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. In
calculating interest income, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired). However, for financial
assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest
income reverts to the gross basis.

(il  Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred.

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translaied into the respective functional currencies of
group companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are transiated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
at the exchange rate at the date of the fransaction. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognised in profit or loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCl and accumulated in the exchange reserve,

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control, significant
influence is lost, the cumulative amount in the exchange reserve related to that foreign
operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. On disposal
of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relating to that foreign operation that have been attributed to the NCI shall be
derecognised, but shall not be reclassified to profit or loss. When the Group disposes of only
part of an associate while retaining significant influence, the relevant proportion of the
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.
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(u)

v)

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred.

Related parties

(@

(b)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)

(v)

(vi)
(vii)

(Vi)

The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.

The entity is a post-empioyment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services fo the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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(w)

(a)

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated
financial statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Accounting judgements and estimates

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key scurces of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting pericd, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment
loss, if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value; (i) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and (jii) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including
cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
CGU to which the assets are allocated, including allocation of corporate assets when a
reasonable and consistent basis of ailocafion can be established, otherwise recoverable
amount is determined at the smallest group of CGUs, for which the relevant corporate assets
have been allocated. Changing the assumptions and estimations, including the discount rate
or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the net present value
used in the impairment test.
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(b}

(c)

(d)

Accounting judgements and estimates (continued)
Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs

Provision is made for costs associated with restoration and rehabilitation of certain production
facilities of the Group as soon as the obligation to incur such costs arises. Such restoration
and closure costs are typical of mining, leaching and smelting industries and they are normally
incurred at the end of the life of the production facilities. The costs are estimated on the basis
of plant closure plans and the estimated discounted costs of dismantling and removing these
facilities and the costs of restoration are capitalised reflecting the Group's obligations at that
time. A corresponding provision is created on the liability side.

The capitalised asset is charged to profit or loss through depreciation over the life of the
operation and the provision is increased during each reporting period via unwinding the
discount on the provision. The management estimates are mainly based on the local
legistation. The actual costs and cash outflows may differ from estimates because of changes
in laws and regulations, changes in prices, analysis of site conditions and changes in
restoration technology.

The Group provides for such costs in accordance with the statutory requirements.

Income faxes

The Group is subject to taxes in a number of jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the tax position and the estimates and assumptions in relation to the provision for
taxes, having regard to the nature and timing of their origination and compliance with the
relevant tax legisiation.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and losses, and the tax losses continue to be
available having regard to the nature and timing of their origination and compliance with the
relevant tax legislation associated with their recoupment. In addition, the applicable tax rate
used in recognising deferred tax assets is determined by the forecast proportion of assessable
income against gross sales and the timing of the usage of tax losses when the entity was
granted income tax incentives,

Impairment for input VAT receivabies

In assessing the recoverable amount of input VAT receivables of certain overseas subsidiaries,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. The amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows.
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(a)
()

Revenue and segment reporting

The Group is principally engaged in metal production and processing and trading business.
Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed in Note 4(b).

Revenue

Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by major products or service lines
and by the timing of revenue recognition is as follows:

Years ended 31 December

Six months ended 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'C00 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
{unaudited)
Revenue from contracts with customers
within the scope of IFRS 15 and
recognised at a point in time
Disaggregated by major products lines
Copper production and processing
- Copper cathodes 328,220 404,785 1,228,967 448,256 828,021
- Copper concentrate 62,396 12,177 946 946 1,179
- Cobalt hydroxide - - - - 10,739
Trading revenue 246,687 258,739 538,820 146,763 123,846
637,303 675,701 1,769,833 595,965 863,785

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by geographic markets, based on

the delivery location is as follows:

Years ended 371 December

Six_months ended 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMEB'¢00 RMB'000 RMEB'000
(unaudited)

Disagaregated by delivery location
DRC - 126,370 877,004 308,104 £99,681
Zambia 388,723 288,399 352,912 141,098 127,721
The PRC 241,754 260,932 409,070 112,465 84,029
Peru 6,826 - 130,847 34,298 52,354
637,303 675,701 1,769,833 595,965 963,785
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4 Revenue and segment reporting {continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by geographic markets, based on
the place of registration of the customers is as follows:

Years ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
{unaudited)

Disaggregated by place of registration
Singapore - 27,989 406,455 169,916 496,828
Switzerland - 11,718 265,917 106,523 128,917
Chinese Mainland 241,754 350,521 634,032 199,705 120,965
Hong Kong 220,925 83,610 25,698 - 86,397
British Virgin Islands 107,295 192,513 266,201 98,266 78,255
Luxembourg - - 170,167 20,092 47 241
Peru 6,827 - 514 514 4,003
Zambia 60,502 9,350 949 949 1,179
637,303 675,701 1,769,833 595,965 963,785

During the Track Record Period, the Group’s customers with whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of the total revenue of the Group in the respective years are as follows.
Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from largest debtors are set out in Note 31(a).

Years ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
{unaudited)

Customer A 281,428 92,960 * * >
Customer B 107,295 192,513 266,201 98,266 *
Customer C 74,563 * * * -
Customer D * 124,466 * * -
Customer E - * 233,377 126,329 150,760
Customer F - * * 62,824 128,917
Customer G - - * - 237,235

*. The corresponding customer did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
in the respective year/period.

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 121(a) of IFRS 15 of not disclosing the

transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation as the original expected
duration of substantially all the contracts of the Group are within one year or loss.
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Revenue and segment reporting (continued)
Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by business lines
(products and services). In a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has presented the following two reportable
segments. No operating segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segment.

» Metal production and processing ~ Production and sale of copper cathodes which are
produced using the solvent extraction electrowinning technology, processing and sale of
copper concentrate, and processing and sale of cobalt and related material.

» Trading business - Trading business for non-ferrous metal.
Segment resulis

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources between
segments, the Group's senior executive management monitors the results attributable to each
reportable segment on the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to revenue
generated by those segmentis and the expenses incurred by those segments. The measure
used for reporting segment result is gross profit.

The Group’s other operating income and expenses, such as other income, other gains and
losses, distribution and selling expenses and administrative expenses are not measured under
individual segments. The Group’s most senicr executive management monitor the Group’s
assets and liabilities as a whole, accordingly, no segment assets and liabilities is presented.
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Revenue and segment reporting (continued)

Disaggregation information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the
Group’s most senjor executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance for the Track Record Period is set out below,

Revenue from external customers and reportable
segment revenue

Reportable segment gross profit

Revenue from external customers and reportable
segment revenue

Reportable segment gross profit

Revenue from external customers and reportable
segment revenue

Reportable segment gross profit

(unaudited)
Revenue from external customers and reportable
segment revenue

Reportable segment gross profit

Revenue from external customers and reportable
segment revenue

Reportable segment gross profit
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2022
Metal
production and Trading
processing business Total
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
390,616 246,687 637,303
164,939 5554 170,493
2023
Metal
production and Trading
processing business Total
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
416,962 258,739 675,701
120,386 9,757 130,143
2024
Metal
production and Trading
processing business Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
1,229,913 539,920 1,769,833
337,782 29,885 367,667
Six_months ended 30 June 2024
Metal
production and Trading
processing business Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
449,202 146,763 595,965
130,104 15,549 145,653
Six_months ended 30 June 2025
Metal
production and Trading
processing business Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
839,939 123,846 083,785
212,060 10,620 222,680




5 Other income

Years ended 31 December

Six_ months ended 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Interest income 1,032 1,309 175 91 283
Government granis 4628 918 266 13 332
Sale of spare parts and other materials 135 162 730 467 128
Others 537 742 694 694 74
6,332 3,131 1,865 1,265 818
6 Other gains and losses
Years ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
{unaudited)
Gains/{losses) on disposal of property, plant
and equipment, net 354 49 {2,062) - (49)
Impairment (losses)/reversals recognised in
respect of
- input VAT receivables (Nole 19) (1,930 {6,780) 3,774 1,887 (8,456)
- financial assets under ECL (144) {12,467) (680) (771) (704)
- property, plant and equipment (Note 12) - - (4,438) - -
Foreign exchange gains/(losses), net 4,061 {19,692) (1,482) 2,037 9,328
(Losses)/gains from changes in fair value of
financial liabilities/assets at FVTPL
- trade receivables at FVTPL (10,431} 3,141 2,87 17,021 11,901
- trade payables designated at FVTPL 528 461 {94) 182 (358)
- other financial liabilities at FVTPL {39} 33 (4,990) (5,119 (107)
(7,601} (35,255) (7,101) 15,237 11,555
7  Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/{(crediting):
{a} Finance costs
Years ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(unaudited)
Interest on bank and other borrowings 7,050 13,647 26,472 11,744 8,433
Interest on lease liabilities 78 75 10 6 14
Unwinding of discount (Nofe 27) 335 816 1,025 499 996
Less: interest expense capitalised into plant
under development (Nofa} (652) (1,228) (637) (31) (1.398)
6,811 13,410 26,870 12,218 8,045

Note:

Interest on bank and other borrowings have been capitalised at a rate of 10.0%, 10.0%

and 4.3%, 4.3% (unaudited) and 4.3% per annum during the years ended 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024 and the period ended six months ended 30 June 2024, 2025.
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Profit before taxation (continued)

(b) Staff costs

Years ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RME'000 RMEB'000 RMB'C00 RMB'000
{unaudited)

Salaries, wages and other benefits 34,100 43,807 70,332 33,613 40,111

Contributions to defined contribution
retirement schemes 1,643 2,387 3,538 1,500 1,802
35,743 46,194 73,870 35,113 41,813

(c) Otheritems
Years ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(unaudited)
Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment (Note 12} 8,670 20,495 41,144 17,759 25,465
Amortisation of intanaiizle assets (Note 13} - 35 636 243 323
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 74) 1,030 989 668 332 332
Total amortisation and depreciation 9,700 21,519 42,448 18,334 26,120

Lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities 299 531 1,166 708 901
Cost of inventories (Nofe) 466,810 545,338 1,402,166 450,312 741,105
Auditor's remuneration 1,283 566 547 519 538
Listing expenses - - - 175

Notes:

Cost of sales of inventories includes RMB9,856,000, RMB17,536,000, RMB36,710,000,
RMB 16,974,000 (unaudited) and RMB18,947,000 relating to staff costs during the years ended
31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, and the periods ended six months ended 30 June 2024,
2025, which are included in the respeciive total amounts disclosed separately above orin Note
7(b).

Cost of sales of inventories also includes RMB7,067,000, RMB19,244,000, and
RMB39,884,000, RMB17,142,000 (unaudited) and RMB24,781,000 relating to depreciation
and amortisation expenses during the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and
the periods ended six months ended 30 June 2024, 2025, which are also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above.
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8 Income tax in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income

fa} Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income represents:

Current tax (Note 28(a))

- Income fax in the PRC

- Income tax in Singapore
- Income tax in Peru

- Income tax in DRC

- Income tax in Zambia

Provision for the year/period

Deferred tax (Note 28(b))

QOrigination and reversal of temporary
differences

Years ended 31 December

Six months ended 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB'000
(unaudited)
7,118 4,128 14,835 6,529 15,342
2,198 712 4,021 3,190 2,584
199 - 578 - 712
- 1,558 14,517 2,845 5,565
2,725 1,948 - 1,457 1,349
12,2414 8,346 33,851 14,021 25,652
(1,859) {11,4689) 6,373 1,404 670
10,382 {3,123) 40,324 15,425 26,222

Income tax in the PRC is calculated at 25% on the estimated taxable profit.

[ncome tax in Singapore is calculated at 17% on the estimated taxable profit.

Income tax in Peru is calculated at 29.5% on the estimated taxable profit.

Income tax in DRC is calculated at 30% on the estimated taxable profit when 30% of the
taxable profit exceeds 1% of gross sales, and calculated at 1% of gross sales when 30% of
the taxable profit does not exceeds 1% of gross sales.

Income tax in Zambia is calculated at 30% on the estimated taxable profit.

The Group enjoyed the following income tax incentives:

* Rong Xing Investments was granted a tax waiver on its income tax for the year ended 31
December 2022 of Zambian Kwacha (*ZMW') 27,915,000 (equivalent to RMB10,40S,000).

+ Tibet Huiyi located in the PRC, is eligible for a 15% income tax rate from 1 January 2021 to
31 December 2030. Tibet Huiyi is also eligible for an additional 6% income tax rate relief
from 1 January 2022 {0 31 December 2025.

» Upon meeting certain requirements for trading businesses in Singapore, Jinxun Singapore
is eligible for a 10% income tax rate for profit arising from certain specified commodities
trading revenue from 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2028.

* In Singapore, the income tax is eligible for progressive tax relief. The subsidiary of the
Company is eligible for 75% income tax relief when the profit before taxation is less than
SGD10,000, 50% income tax relief when the profit before taxation is SGD10,000 or greater

but less than SGD200,000.
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(b)

Income tax in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (continued}

Certain dividend income of Jinxun Singapore from subsidiaries in
subject to withholding tax at tax rate of 10%.

the PRC and DRC is

Certain dividend income of the Company and Jinxun Singapore from a subsidiary in Peru is
subject to withholding tax at tax rate of 5%.

According to the Convention between the Republic of Zambia and the PRC for the Avoidance
of Double Taxation, certain dividend income of the Company from a subsidiary in Zambia is
subject to withholding tax at tax rate of 5%.

Certain dividend income of the Company from a subsidiary in Singapore is subject to

withholding tax at tax rate of 10%.

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rates

Profit before taxation

Tax at income {ax rate in the PRC
- for operations at 25%

Tax at income tax rate in Singapore
- for operations at 17%

Tax at income tax rate in Peru
- for operations at 29.5%

Tax at income tax rate in DRC
- for operaticns at 30%

Tax at income tax rate in Zambia
- for operations at 30%

Expected tax on profit before taxation,
calculated at the rate applicable to profits

Effect of changes of tax rate

Effect of tax incentives granted to the Group

Tax effect of non-deductibie expenses

Tax effect of deductible temporary differences
nof recognised

Tax effect of utilisation of prior years’ unused
tax losses previously and other deductible
temporary differences not recognised

Tax effect of non-taxable income

Income tax

Years ended 31 December

Six months ended 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
{unaudited)
93,886 26,023 242762 108,509 161,204
16,722 11,048 36,852 15,464 30,152
(138) 1,706 10,054 4,658 5103
448 (506) 512 269 802
4,117 (3,551) 6,129 3,088 675
12,003 {4,394) 4215 2,415 1,683
24,918 4,303 57,762 25,894 38,415
322 (69) (149) - 1
(20,641) (7,729) (21,414) {10,036) (15,862}
6,663 2,585 8,225 1,705 5,553
409 1,134 497 142 428
(569) (87) (4186) (269) -
(720) {3.260) (4,181) {2,011) {2,313}
10,382 {3,123) 40,324 15,425 26,222
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Directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments

Details of the emoluments of the directors and supervisors of the Company during the Track
Record Period are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yuan Rong Note((i})

Ms. Yuan Mei Note((i))

Mr. Yang Yongchang Nols((i))
Mr. Lv Jixue Note{{i)) ((vi))
Mr. Li Hai Note((i)

Supervisors:

Mr. Yan Lei Note((ii)
Mr. Zhu Zhiming Note((ii))
Ms. Li Jinhua Nofe((ii)

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yuan Rong Mote((ifi})

Ms. Yuan Mei Nofe({ii))

Mr. Yang Yongchang
Note((iii})

Non-executive director:
Mr. Li Mengtao Nofe((ii)

Independent non-executive
directors:

Ms. Zheng Dongyu Note((iv))
Ms. Yao Ronghui Note{{iv)}
Mr. Xia Hongying Note((iv)}

Supervisors:

Mr. Yan Lei Note(fv)
Mr. Zhu Zhiming Note((v))
Ms. Wang Xiuxuan Note((v))

Year ended 31 December 2022

Salaries,

aflowances Retirement

Direclors’  and benefits  Discretionary  Share option scheme
fees in kind bonuses scheme  contributions Total
RMB'C00 RMB'000 RMB'C00 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
- 539 68 - 63 670
- 219 149 - 15 383
- 269 64 - 15 348
- 43 1 - 1 55
- 143 26 - 9 178
- 1,213 308 - 113 1,634
- 145 43 - 9 197
- 80 128 - 11 229
- 21 42 - 9 72
- 256 213 - 29 498
- 1,469 521 - 142 2,132

Year ended 31 December 2023
Salaries,

allowances Retirement

Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary  Share option scheme
fees in kind bonuses scheme  contributions Total
RMB'000 RMB'C00 RMB'G00 RMB'G00 RMB'000 RMB'000
- 724 37 - 68 829
- 307 46 - 16 369
- 369 102 86 16 573
60 - - - - 60
60 - - - - 60
60 - - - - 60
180 1,400 185 86 100 1,951
- 142 40 29 9 220
- 65 26 8 12 109
- 77 26 - 8 111
- 284 92 35 29 440
180 1,684 277 121 129 2,391
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Directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments {continued}

Year ended 31 December 2024

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary  Share option scheme
fees in kind honuses scheme  condributions Total
RMBE'000 RME'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Executive Directors:
Mr. Yuan Rong - 818 - - 71 889
Ms. Yuan Mei - 315 85 - 12 412
Mr. Yang Yongchang - 379 88 a8 15 566
Non-executive director:
Mr. Li Mengtao - - - - - -
Independent non-
executive directors:
Ms. Zheng Dongyu 60 - - - - 60
Ms. Yao Ronghui 60 - - - - 60
Mr. Xia Hongying 60 - - - - 60
180 1,512 171 86 a8 2,047
Supervisors:
Mr. Yan Lei - 155 79 29 9 272
Mr. Zhu Zhiming - 74 19 8 13 112
Ms. Wang Xiuxuan - 87 33 - 8 128
- 316 131 35 30 512
180 1,828 302 121 128 2,559
Six months ended 30 June 2024
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary  Share option scheme
fees in kind bonuses scheme  conlributions Tolal
{unaudited) RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Executive Directors:
Mr. Yuan Rong - 388 - - 35 423
Ms. Yuan Mei - 156 54 - 7 217
Mr. Yang Yongchang - 187 53 43 8 291
Non-executive director:
Mr. Li Mengtao - - - - - -
Independent non-
executive directors:
Ms. Zheng Dongyu 30 - - - - 30
Ms. Yao Ronghui 30 - - - - 30
Mr. Xia Hongying 30 - - - - 30
a0 73i 107 43 50 1,021
Supervisors:
Mr. Yan Lei - 73 56 14 4 147
Mr. Zhu Zhiming - 37 17 3 6 63
Ms. Wang Xiuxuan - 43 18 - 4 85
- 153 91 17 14 275
90 884 198 60 64 1,296
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9 Directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments (continued)

Six months ended 30 June 2025

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary  Share option scheme
fees in kind bonuses scheme  contributions Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBE’000 RMB'000
Executive Directors:
Mr. Yuan Reng 3 423 - - 35 461
Ms. Yuan Mei 3 179 63 - 8 253
Mr. Yang Yongchang 3 164 53 43 8 301
Non-executive director:
Mr. Li Mengtao Note((vii)) - - -
Independent non-
executive directors:
Ms. Zheng Dongyu 30 - - - - 30
Ms. Yao Ronghui Note{(ix)) 20 - - - - 20
Mr. Xia Hongying 30 - - - - 30
Mr. Wong Hok Bun Mario
Note((xi)) 18 - - - - 18
107 796 116 43 51 1,113
Supervisors:
Mr. Yan Lei - 80 22 14 4 120
Mr. Zhu Zhiming - 40 5 3 7 55
Ms. Wang Xiuxuan Nofe{{vifi)) - 27 4 - 2 33
Ms. Gao Chang Note((x)) - 14 3 - 1 18
161 34 17 14 226
107 957 150 60 65 1,339
Notes:
(i  On 19 July 2019, Mr. Yuan Rong, Ms. Yuan Mei, Mr. Yang Yongchang, Mr. Lv Jixue and

(ii)

(i)

Mr. Li Hai were appointed as executive directors of the Company for the period from 2
August 2019 to 14 January 2023.

On 19 July 2019, Mr. Yan Lei was appointed as a supervisor of the Company for the
period from 2 August 2019 to 14 January 2023. On 26 July 2021, Mr. Zhu Zhiming was
appointed as a supervisor of the Company for the period from 26 July 2021 to 14 January
2023. Ms. Li Jinhua resigned as a supervisor of the Company on 31 August 2022.

On 14 January 2023, Mr. Yuan Rong, Ms. Yuan Mei and Mr. Yang Yongchang were
appointed as executive directors of the Company, and Mr. Li Mengtac was appointed as
a non-executive director of the Company for the period from 14 January 2023 to 14
January 2026.

Mr. Li Mengtao assumes a role in Chuanghe Xincai (Xiamen) Manufacturing Industry
Transformation and Upgrading Fund Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (‘Bll&
2 (EF) REXEERGRESAREE (BIRSG%), "Chuanghe Xincai’), a

shareholder of the Company, and his emoluments for services rendered by him to the
Group commencing from the date of his appointment have been borne by Chuanghe
Xincai.
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Directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments (continued)

(iv)

v)

(vi)
(vii)
(viii)
(ix)

(x}

(xi)

(xii)

On 14 January 2023, Ms. Zheng Dongyu, Ms. Yao Ronghui and Mr. Xia Hongying were
appointed as independent non-executive directors of the Company for the period from
14 January 2023 to 14 January 2026.

On 14 January 2023, Mr. Yan Lei, Mr. Zhu Zhiming and Ms. Wang Xiuxuan were
appointed as supervisors of the Company for the period from 14 January 2023 {o 14
January 2026.

In March 2022, Mr. Lv Jixue resigned as an executive director of the Company.

In February 2025, Mr. Li Mengtao resigned as a non-executive director of the Company.

In March 2025, Ms. Wang Xiuxuan resigned as a supervisor of the Company.

In April 2025, Ms. Yao Ronghui resigned as an independent non-executive director of
the Company.

On 16 Méy 2025, Ms. Gao Chang was appointed as a supervisor of the Company for the
period from 16 May 2025 {o 14 January 2026.

On 16 May 2025, Mr. Wong Hok Bun Mario was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company for the period from 16 May 2025 to 14 January 2026.

On 8 August 2025, the board of supervisors was cancelled which was approved by
supervisors of the Company.

No amounts were paid or payable by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of any office in connection with the
management of the affairs of any member of the Group.
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10 Individuals with highest emoluments

The number of directors, supervisors and other employees included in the five highest paid
individuals for the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the periods ended six
months ended 30 June 2024, 2025 are set forth below:

Years ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of

individuals individuals individuals individuals individuals

(unaudited)

Director 1 1 - 1 1
Other employees 4 4 5 4 4
5 5 5 5 5

The emoluments of the directors and supervisors are disclosed in Note 9. The aggregate of
the emoluments in respect of the remaining highest paid individuals during the Track Record
Period are as followings:

Years ended 31 Decamber Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'C00 RMB'000

(unaudited)
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 3,195 3,818 4,927 2,280 2,206
Discretionary bonuses 279 417 210 115 5
Share option scheme - 58 58 29 123
Retirement scheme contributions 30 35 45 23 10
3,504 4,328 5,240 2,447 2,344

The emoluments of the individuals who are not directors or supervisors and who are amongst
the five highest paid individuals of the Group are within the following band:

Years ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of

individuals individuals individuals individuals individuals

(unaudited)

HK$nil to HK$500,000 - - - - 1
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 3 2 1 4 2
HK$1,000,001 to HKS1,500,000 - 1 4 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 1 - - -
4 4 5 4 4

During the Track Record Period, no emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to these
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office in connection with the management of the affairs of any member of the Group.
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11 Earnings per share
(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of the basic earnings per share during the Track Record Period is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue or deemed to be in issue during the Track Record
Period.

As described in Note 29(b), the Company issued an aggregate stock dividend of 34,314,511
shares on 16 May 2022, which for the purpose of computing the weighted average number of
ordinary shares, was deemed to be in issue prior to 1 January 2022.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Years ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025

Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of

shares shares shares shares shares

(unaudited)
Ordinary shares issued at 1 January 68,629,022 110,296,643 110,296,643 110,296,643 110,298,643
Effect of ordinary shares issued (Note 29(b)) 181,310 - - - -
Effect of ordinary shares deemed to he

issued (Note 29(b}) 34,314,511 - - - -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares

in issue 103,124,843 110,296,643 110,286,643 110,296,643 110,296,643

{b) Diluted earnings per share

There were no dilutive potential shares outstanding during the Track Record Period. Hence,
the diluted earnings per share is the same as basic eamnings per share.
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12 Property, plant and equipment

The Group
Electronic and
transportation
Machinery equipment and Construction in
Buildings equipment others progress Total
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’00C

Cost:
At 1 January 2022 13,419 19,812 6,200 51,586 91,027
Additions - 2,039 30,828 228,910 281,775
Transfer from construction in progress 50,009 30,955 1,173 (82,137) -
Disposals (109) {174) {1,621) - {1,204)
Exchange adjustments
Cther adjustments: 934 2,391 388 5,024 8,737
Provision for restoration, rehabilitation and

environmenta;l costs (950) - - - (950)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 83,303 55,023 36,966 203,393 358,685
Additions - 5,456 10,725 164,687 180,868
Transfer from construction in progress 172,622 92,073 5,271 (269,966) -
Disposals - (91) (73) - (164)
Exchange adjustments 1,169 1,010 415 3,494 6,088
Other adjustments:
Provision for restoration, rehabilitation and

anvironmental costs 4,819 - - - 4,819
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 241,913 153,471 53,304 101,608 550,266
Additions - 20,280 16,856 119,457 156,583
Transfer from construction in progress 44,719 58,363 - (103,082) -
Disposals (21) (452) {2,388) (291) {3,152)
Exchange adjustments 4,070 2,358 359 1,451 8,238
Other adjustments:
Provision for restoration, rehabilitation and

envircnmental costs 191 - - - 191
At 31 December 2024 and 1 January 2025 290,872 234,020 68,131 119,143 712,166
Additions - 845 5,856 48,258 54,959
Transfer from construction in progress 1,991 7.491 629 (10,111) -
Disposals - (434) (281) - (715)
Exchange adjustments {1,276) (1,030) (270) {48) (2,622)
Other adjustments:
Provision for restoration, rehabilitation and

environmental costs 10,428 - - - 10,428
At 30 June 2025 302,015 240,892 74,065 157,244 774,216
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2022 (1,837) {4,376} (2,653) - (8,866)
Charge for the year (2,155) {5,260) (3,491} - {10,815)
Written back on disposals 23 163 1,383 . 1,669
Exchange adjustiments (166) {668) (211) B (1,045)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 (4,139) {10,150} (4,972) - {19,257)
Charge for the year (7,859) {8,329) (9,158) - {25,346)
Written back on disposals - 26 26 - 52
Exchange adjustments {175} (486) (123) - (784)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 {12,169} (18,939) (14,227) - (45,335)
Charge for the year {14,251} (17,984) (12,233) - {44,468)
Written back on disposals 5 316 559 - 880
Exchange adjustments {320} (502) (315) - (1,137)
At 31 December 2024 and 1 January 2025 {26,735} (37,109) (26,218) - (90,060)
Charge for the period {7.739) {11,350) {6,454) - (25,543)
Written back on disposals - 50 138 - 228
Exchange adjustmenis 136 202 122 - 460
At 30 June 2025 {34,338) {48,167) (32,410) - {114,915}
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12 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The Group
Electronic and
transportation
Machinery equipment and Construction in

Buildings equipment others progress Tolal

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Accumulated impairment;
At 31 December 2022, 31 December 2023

and 1 January 2024

Charge for the year (Note} {1,576) {2,862) - - {4,438)
Exchange adjustments (18) (31) - - (47)
At 31 December 2024 and 1 January 2025 (1,592) (2,893) - - (4,485)
Charge for the period (Nofe) - - - -
Exchange adjusiments B 12 - - 18
At 30 June 2025 {1,586} {2,881) - - {4,467)
Net book value:
At 31 December 2022 59,168 44,873 31,994 203,393 339,428
At 31 December 2023 229,744 134,632 38,077 101,608 504,961
At 31 December 2024 262,545 194,018 41,915 119,143 617,621
At 30 June 2025 266,091 189,844 41,855 157,244 654,834

As at 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 30 June 2025, the Group pledged property, plant
and equipment with a net carrying amount of RMB21,116,000, RMB86,223,000 and
RMB190,665,000 and RMB143,018,000 to secure loans amounting to RMB14,226,000,
RMB33,053,000, RMB90,457,000 and RMB96,057,000, respectively.

Note:

In 2024, certain flotation facilities of Rong Xing Investments were not expected to be used in
future and was therefore fully impaired.
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The Company

Cost:

At 1 January 2022
Additions
Disposals

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
Additions

Transfer from construction in progress
Disposals

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
Additions

Disposals

At 31 December 2024 and 1 January 2025
Additions

Disposals

At 30 June 2025

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2022
Charge for the year
Written back on disposals

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
Charge for the year

Wrilten back on disposals

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
Charge for the year

Written back on disposals

At 31 December 2024 and 1 January 2025
Charge for the period

Whitten back on disposals

At 30 June 2025

Net book value:

At 31 December 2022
At 31 December 2023
At 31 December 2024

At 30 June 2025

12 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Electronic and
transportation
Machinery equipment and Construction in
equipment others Process Total
RMB'000 RMB'C00 RMB'000 RMB'000
74 2,214 586 2,874
- 306 1,288 1,594
- (1,087} - (1,087)
74 1,433 1,874 3,381
- 589 - 589
- 1,758 (1,758) -
- (113 - (113
74 3,768 116 3,959
- 386 185 571
- {2,084} (290} {2,374)
74 2,071 11 2,156
- 271 1,595 1,866
- {123) - {(123)
74 2,219 1,606 3,899
(47) (1,536) - {1,583)
{7 (189) - (196}
- 1,013 - 1,013
(54} (712) - (766)
7} (311) - (318
- 5 - 5
{61} {1,018) - (1,079)
7 (407) - (414)
- 338 - 338
(68} {1,087) - {1,155)
(2) (155) - (157)
- 52 - 52
(70} {1,190) - {1,260}
20 721 1,874 2,615
13 2,751 116 2,880
6 984 i 1,001
4 1,029 1,608 2,639
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Intangible assets

The Group

Cost:

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
Additions

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
Additions
Exchange adjustment

At 31 December 2024 and 1 January 2025
Additions
Exchange adjustment

At 30 June 2025
Accumulated amortisation:

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
Charge for the year
Exchange adjustment

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
Charge for the year

Exchange adjustment

At 31 December 2024 and 1 January 2025
Charge for the period

Exchange adjustment

At 30 June 2025

Net book value:

At 31 December 2022

At 31 December 2023

At 31 December 2024

At 30 June 2025
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14 Right-of-use assets

The Group

Cost:

At 1 January 2022
Additions

Expiration of lease term
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
Additions

Expiration of lease term

Early termination of lease term

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
Additions

Expiration of lease term

Exchange adjustiments

At 31 December 2024 and 1 January 2025
Additions

Expiration of lease term

Exchange adjustments

At 30 June 2025
Accumuiated depreciation:

At 1 January 2022
Charge for the year
Expiration of lease term
Exchange adjustiments

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
Charge for the year

Expiration of lease term

Early termination of lease term

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
Charge for the year

Expiration of lease term

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2024 and 1 January 2025
Charge for the period

Expiration of lease term

Exchange adjustments

At 30 June 2025

Net book value:

At 31 December 2022

At 31 December 2023

At 31 December 2024

At 30 June 2025

Properties Interest in
leased for own leasehold land
use held for own use Total
RMB'000 RMRB’000 RMB'000
2,772 4,433 7.205
4568 - 468
(834) - (834)
61 410 471
2,467 4,843 7,310
198 15,526 15,724
411) - 411
(1,573) - {1,573)
{1) 81 80
680 20,450 21,130
- 431 431
(225) - (225)
2 180 182
457 21,061 21,518
553 - 553
(189) - (189)
- (52) (52)
821 21,009 21,830
(824) (174) (998)
(917) {(113) (1,030)
834 - 834
(49) (21) {70)
(956) (308) (1,264)
(756) (233) (989)
411 - 411
944 0 944
1 1 (9)
(356) {551) (907)
(241) {427) (668)
225 - 225
(M 7 (8)
(373) (985) (1,358)
(114) (218) (332)
189 - 189
2 2 4
(296) (1,201} (1,497)
1,611 4,535 6,046
324 19,899 20,223
84 20,076 20,160
525 19,808 20,333
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14

15

Right-of-use assets (continued)
Notes:

(i) Property leased for own use represents the right to use properties as its offices through
tenancy agreements. The leases run for an initial period of 2 to 5 years.

(i)  Interest in leasehold land held for own use represented land use right premiums paid by
the Group for land situated in the PRC, Zambia and DRC. Lump sum payments were
made upfront for these interesis in leasehold land, and there are no ongoing payments
to be made under the terms of the land lease. The period for these land use righis is
no more than 25 to 99 years.

(i) As at31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 30 June 2025, the Group pledged right-of-use
assets with a net carrying amount of RMB4,535,000, RMB2,588,000, RMB14,493,000
and RMB14,307,000 to secure loans amounting to RMB14,226,000, RMB33,053,000,
RMB90,457,000 and RMB 96,057,000 respectively.

The Group does not have the option to renew or early terminate the lease and there are no
significant restrictions or covenants imposed {o the lease. None of the leases includes
variable lease payments.

Details of the maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in Note 25.

Interest in an associate

Proportion of

ownership
Place of establish Particulars interest held by
and business  of paid-up capital the Group Principal activity
Name of associate
Jiangxi Tungsten Jinxun The DRC USD100,000 49%  Trading business
Resources Africa SAS for metals

ILisE PR HEIR

48 (“Jiangwu Jinxun")

Jiangwu Jinxun is an unlisted entity whose quoted market price is not available. Jiangwu Jinxun
is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.
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Interest in an associate (continued)

Summarised financial information of Jiangwu Jinxun, adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed below:

At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Gross amounts of the associate
Assets and liabilities:
Current assets 63,825 3,563 3,435 3,451
Non-current assets 1,748 257 203 203
Current liabilities (65,058) (48,447) {48,503) (48,719}
Non-current liahilities - - - -
Equity 515 (44,627} {44,865) (45,065}
Included in the above assets and liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents 340 259 1 1
Profit or loss:
Revenue 47,645 17,794 - -
{Loss)/gain and total comprehensive income
for the year/period (30,251) (44 937) 64 -
Included in the above gains/loss:
Depreciation and amortisation 2,116 1,101 728 -
Reconciled to the Group’s interests in the
associate
Gross amounts of net assets/(deficit) of the
associate 515 (44,627) {(44,865) (45,065}
Group's interest held by the Company 49% 49% 49% 49%

Group's share of net assets of the associate 252 - - -

Carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements 252 - - -

The directors of the Company considered the Group and the Company has significant influence
over Jiangwu Jinxun through its representative on the board of directors and the voting right
of Jiangwu Jinxun.
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16 Investments in subsidiaries

The Company

Investments in subsidiaries, at cost

17 Inventories

The Group

Raw materials

Spare parts and consumables
Work in progress

Finished goods

The Company

Spare parts and consumables
Finished goods

18 Trade receivables at amortised cost and trade receivables at FVTPL

The Group

Trade receivables at amortised cost-contracts
with customers
Less: Allowance for credit losses

Trade receivables at FVTPL - confracts with
customers

At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
89,663 124,257 176,814 176,814
At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
27,127 78,400 230,502 211,950
5,410 7,363 28,396 39,822
3,233 54,768 79,981 71,505
20,647 41,826 93,250 100,280
56,417 182,357 432,129 423,557
Af 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
208 204 239 3,624
3,989 23,072 7,850 27,372
4,197 23,276 8,089 30,896
At 31 December Al 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
1,244 517 278 2,316
{70) (26) (14) (112)
1,174 491 264 2,204
43,161 25,084 36,517 39,743
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18 Trade receivables at amortised cost and trade receivables at FVTPL
(continued)

Ageing analysis

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables at amortised cost, net of allowance for
credit losses, presented based on the invoice dates:

At 31 Decemnber Af 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

0 to 30 days 649 422 264 2,204
31 to 90 days - 7 - -
91 {o 180 days - 62 - -
181 to 365 days 387 - - -
Over one year 138 - - -
1,174 491 264 2,204

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables at FVTPL, presented based on the
invoice dates:

At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
0 to 30 days 41,963 22,074 32612 39,656
31 to 90 days 1,198 3,010 3,805 87
43,161 25,084 36,517 39,743
The Company
At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Trade receivables at amortised cost -
contracts with customers 63,597 106,629 103,181 143,345
Less: Allowance for credit losses 0! (20 - (486)
63,590 106,609 103,181 143,299
Trade receivables at FVTPL - contracts with
customers 10,867 8,561 882 87
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18 Trade receivables at amortised cost and trade receivables at FVTPL
(continued)

Included in the Company’s frade receivables at' amortised cost are balances with the following
related parties:

At 31 December Al 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Trade receivables at amortised cost -
subsidiaries 63,462 106,240 103,181 142 429

Ageing analysis

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables at amortised cost, net of allowance for
credit losses, presented based on the invoice dates:

At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

0 to 30 days 27,891 3,352 16,795 36,642
31 to 90 days 4,958 17,837 9,415 21,454
91 {0 180 days 23,250 26,932 10,951 4,918
181 to 365 days - 21,684 20,972 23,738
Over one year 7,491 36,804 45,048 56,547
63,590 106,609 103,181 143,299

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables at FVTPL, presented based on the
invoice dates:

Af 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

0 to 30 days 10,867 8,561 153 -
31 to 90 days - - 729 87
10,867 8,561 882 87

57



19 Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

The Group
At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Non-current:
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment 10,123 1,071 4,624 8,682
Deposits - 71 301 332
Input VAT receivables (Note) 39,921 54,980 38,130 59,848
lLess: loss allowance (3,903} (10,972} (6,859) (15,115)
46,141 45,150 36,196 53,747
Current:
Prepayments for inventories and others 4,881 3,041 14,748 10,106
Prepayments for costs incurred in connection
with the proposed initial public offering of H
shares - - - 10,878
Input VAT receivables (Note) 25,827 16,669 30,989 43,854
Tax recoverable 14,665 16,274 18,795 20,167
Deposits 4,760 1,547 19,377 31,770
Loans granted to an associate 10,416 11,582 - -
Deposits in transit - 5,666 - -
Other receivables 5,151 7,024 180 648
Less: loss allowance (6,790) (19,194 (2,535) (3,275)
58,910 42,609 81,554 114,148
105,051 87,759 117,750 167,895
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19 Prepayments, deposits and other receivables (continued)

The Company

At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Non-current:
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment - 294 - 7,311
Current:

Prepayments for inventories and others {to

subsidiaries) 3,782 21,676 - -
Prepayments for costs incurred in connection

with the proposed initial public offering of H

shares - - - 10,878

Prepayments for inventories and others (to
third parties) 4,169 2,330 3,541 3,580
Deposits 3,873 666 287 1,452
Tax recoverable 5,466 6,866 3,801 3,449
Amounts due from subsidiaries 27,737 24,166 31,046 41,793
Dividends receivable 75,600 43,000 - 45,000
Other receivables 2,966 4,812 47 126
Less: loss allowance (3,086) (4,829) (82) (102)
120,507 98,687 38,640 108,176

Note:

The gross carrying amount of input VAT receivables are primarily from the subsidiaries in
Zambia and Peru. The impairment provision is estimated based on the present value of the
estimated future cash flows, discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the input VAT
receivables for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. As at 31
December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 30 June 2025, impairment provision amounting to
RMB4,508,000, RMB11,288,000, RMB7,514,000 and RMB16,896,000 respectively in
aggregate has been made on input VAT receivables.
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20 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow information

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

The Group

Cash at bank and on hand
Less: time deposit

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company

Cash at bank and on hand
Less: time deposit

Cash and cash equivalents

At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
79,062 39,876 128,901 132,560

- - (5,000 (6,050)

79,062 39,876 123,901 126,510
At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
61,428 9,769 30,220 12,614

- - (5,000 (5,000)

61,428 9,769 25220 7.614

The time deposits carry interest rates at 1.8% and 1.35% per annum during the year ended 31
December 2024 and the period ended 30 June 2025.
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20
(b)

Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow information {continued}

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for

statements of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

At 1 January 2022
Changes from financing cash flows:
Financing cash flows

Proceeds from new loans
New leases

Interest expenses
Repayment of loans
Interest paid

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
Changes from financing cash flows:
Financing cash flows

Proceeds from new loans
New leases

Early termination of the lease
Interest expenses
Repayment of loans

Interest paid

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
Changes from financing cash flows:
Financing cash flows

Proceeds from new loans

Interest expenses

Repayment of loans

Interest paid

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2024 and 1 January 2025
Changes from financing cash flows:
Financing cash flows

Proceeds from new loans

New leases

Interest expenses

Repayment of loans

Interest paid
Exchange adjustments

At 30 June 2025

Bank and other

which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated

borrowings Lease liabilities Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
66,646 1 ,651 __________ 9‘9_:2_91
100,165 - 100,165
- 468 458
6,398 78 6,476
(81,861) (931) (82,792}
(6,284) (78) (6,362)
2,325 36 2,361
87.389 1,224 88,613
262 477 - 262 477
- 198 198
- (680) (680)
12,419 75 12,494
(137,888) {416) {138,304)
(12,331} (75) (12,406)
1,145 2 1,147
213,211 328 213,539
512,170 - 512,170
25,835 10 25,845
(458,700) (241) (458,941)
(25,962) (1) (25,972)
2,073 3 2,076
268,627 90 268,717
147,369 - 147,369
- 553 553
7,035 14 7,049
(168,705) (103) (168,808)
(8,696) (14} (8,710}
(444) - {444)
245,186 540 245,726

61




Bank and other

20 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow information (continued)

borrowings Lease liabilities Tofal
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(unaudited)
At 1 January 2024 213,211 328 213,539
Changes from financing cash flows:
Financing cash flows
Proceeds from new loans 228,928 - 228,928
Interest expenses 11,713 6 11,719
Repayment of loans {220,607) {116) (220,723)
interest paid (5,582) (6) {5,588)
Exchange adjustments 993 3 996
At 30 June 2024 228,656 215 228,871
Trade payables at amortised cost and trade payables at FVTPL
The Group
At 31 December Af 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Trade payables at amortised cost 29,317 56,241 82,868 106,422
Trade payables at FVTPL 28,481 82,036 271,527 191,248

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables at amortised cost presented based on

the invoice dates:

At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

0 to 30 days 25,871 20,865 58,545 77,088
31 to 90 days 892 9,736 19,505 26,807
91 to 180 days - 13,686 2,506 2,017
181 to 365 days 2,290 289 208 301
Over cne year 264 11,865 2,104 209
29,317 56,241 82,868 106,422
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Trade payables at amortised cost and trade payables at FVTPL (continued)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables at FVTPL presented based on the invoice
dates:

At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
0 to 30 days 12,025 34,191 254,244 139,100
31 to 90 days 9,246 43,020 16,272 40,081
91 to 180 days 7.195 4,632 - 4,045
181 to 365 days 15 193 53 8,022
Over one year - - 958 -
28,481 82,036 271,527 191,248

The Company
At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Trade payables at amortised cost 9,736 47,685 7,318 25,613
Trade payables at FVTPL 217 967 1,093 -

Included in the Company’s trade payables at amortised cost are balances with the following
related parties:

At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Trade payables at amortised cost - subsidiaries 9,101 41,079 5,657 24 447

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables at amortised cost presented based on
the invoice dates:

At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

0 to 30 days 8,101 17,605 6,914 19,100
31 to 90 days 1,635 7.515 259 6,368
91 to 180 days - 20,055 145 -
181 to 365 days - 2,510 - 145
9,736 47 685 7,318 25,613
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22 Accrued expenses and other payables

Trade payables at amortised cost and trade payables at FVTPL (continued)

The following is an ageing analysis of frade payables at FVTPL presented based on the invoice

dates:;

0 to 30 days
31 to 90 days
91 to 180 days

At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
81 967 306 -

- - 787 -

136 - - -

217 967 1,093 -

All trade payables are expected to he settled within one year or are repayable on demand.

The Group

Payables for properties, plant and equipment
and intangible assets

Payables for costs incurred in connection with
the proposed initial public offering of H
shares

Deposits

Others

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Payroll payables
Other tax payables

The Company

Payables for properties, plant and equipment

Payables for costs incurred in connection with
the proposed initial public offering of H
shares

Deposits

Amounts due to subsidiaries

Others

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Payroll payables
Other tax payables

At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RME'000
68,120 65,643 62,131 53,652
- - - 5,152
1,367 16,084 - 15,143 15,130
2,926 2,773 11,585 10,934
72,413 84,500 88,859 84,868
5,420 4,366 7.490 7,162
338 4573 8,053 7,938
78,171 93,439 104,402 99,968
At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'00C
248 1,711 3,449 2,188

- - - 5,152

592 15,309 15,030 15,030
77.840 17,693 27,533 57,278
1,576 387 1,503 1,191
80,256 35,100 47,515 80,839
2,298 1,626 3,902 1,790
282 523 171 223
82,836 37,249 51,588 82,852
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23 Contract liabilities

The Group
At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Advance from customers 33,495 27,989 62,782 84,735

During each of years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the period ended 30 June
2025, respectively, revenue of RMB3,805,000, RMB33,495,000, RMB27,989,000 and
RMB62,782,000 recognised was related to contract liabilities carried forward.

As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, all of confract liabilities is
expected to be recognised as revenue within one year.

The Company

At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RME'000

Advance from customers 869 2,850 169 4,042
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24 Bank and other borrowings

(a) The Group’s and Company’s bank and other borrowings comprise:

The Group
At 31 Decernber At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Bank loans:
Guaranteed by related parties and/or third

parties 39,055 61,084 66,098 67,068
Pledged by bank deposits of a related party 4,505 - - -
Secured by property, plant and equipment,

right-of-use assets and frade receivables of

the Group 14,226 33,053 28,754 96,057
Guaranteed by related parties, pledged by

securities of the related parties, and secured

by property, plant and equipment and right-

of-use assets of the Group - - 61,703 -
Secured by time deposits of the Group - - 4,503 6,441
Unguaranteed and unsecured bank loans 2,534 2,002 - 2,336
60,320 96,139 161,058 171,900
Other borrowings:
Guaranteed by related parties and secured by
inventories of the Group from third parties 21,043 21,465 - -
Unguaranteed and unsecured loans from third
parties 8,026 95,807 107,569 73,286
27,069 117,072 107,569 73,286
87,389 213,211 268,627 245 186
The Company
At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Bank loans:
Guaranteed by related parties and/or third
parties 39,055 41,062 40,069 38,100
Pledged by bank deposits of a related party 4,505 - - -
Secured by bank deposits of the Group . - - 4,503 4,508
43,560 41,062 44 572 42 608
Other loans
Unguaranteed and unsecured loans from third
parties 5477 - - -
49,037 41,062 44 572 42,608
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24 Bank and other borrowings (continued)
(b) The Group’s/Company’s bank and other borrowings are repayable as follows:

As of the end of the reporting period, bank and other borrowings of the Group were repayable

as follows:
The Group
At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Within 1 year or on demand 81,485 195,505 207,171 176,167
After 1 year but within 2 years 5,904 11,804 22,991 18,500
After 2 years but within 3 years - 5,902 20,000 20,000
After 3 years but within 4 years - - 18,465 20,000
After 4 years but within 5 years - - - 10,519
5,904 17,706 61,456 69,019
87,389 213,211 268,627 245,188

Bank and other borrowings of the Company were repayable within 1 year at the end of each
reporting period.

{c} Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are secured by the following assets
of the Group:

The Group’s asset

At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Property, plant and equipment 21,1186 86,223 190,665 143,018
Right-of-use assets 4,535 2,688 14,493 14,307
Time deposits - - 5,000 6,050
Trade receivables at FVTPL 10,110 - - -
Inventories 41,157 50,000 - -

(d) Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are guaranteed by third parties,
where related parties provide counter-guarantee and/or are secured by time deposits
to these third parties:

At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Counter-guarantee by related parties 16,019 20,022 15,015 19,910

Guarantee deposits 2,000
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Bank and other borrowings (continued)

All of the Group’s banking facilities were utilized as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024. At
30 June 2025, the Group's unutilised banking faciiities amounted to RMB190,000,000.

Certain of the Group’s bank loans are subject to the fulfilment of covenants commoniy found
in lending arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants,
the loans would become repayable on demand. The Group regularly monitors its compliance
with these covenants. Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in
Note 31(b). At 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, none of the covenants

relating to the bank loans had been breached.

All of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are interest bearing.

At 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, certain bank [oans were guaranteed

by the subsidiaries within the Group.

Lease liabilities

At the end of each reporting period, the lease liabilities were repayable as follows:

The Group

At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Within 1 year 695 250 90 139
After 1 year but within 2 years 471 78 - 108
After 2 years but within 5 years 58 - - 293
| 529 78 - 401
1,224 328 80 540

The Company
At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Within 1 year 304 - - -
After 1 year but within 2 years 319 - - -
After 2 years but within 5 years 20 - - -
339 - - -
643 - - -

68



26 Financial liabilities at FVTPL

At 31 Decemnber At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

Non-ferrous metal futures confracts 2486 66 - 107
27 Provision for restoration, rehabilifation and environmental costs

At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Balance at beginning of year/period 4,184 3,581 9,380 10,746

Provisions for new plant - 5,023 - -

Provisions revision (950) (204} 191 10,428

Unwinding of discount (Nofe7(a)) 335 916 1,025 996

Exchange adjustments 12 64 150 47)

Balance at end of the year/period 3,581 9,380 10,746 22,123

28

Income tax in the consolidated statements of financial position

The Group’s provision for restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs is related to the
Group's subsidiaries in Zambia and DRC which are involved in smelting operations. The
provision represenfs the accrued cost required to provide adequate restoration and
rehabilitation measured by qualified professionals in Zambia and DRC, as discounted at rates
ranging from 10.65%, 10.67% to 11.23%, 9.36% to 12.04% and 10.72% to 12.04% per annum
during the Track Record Pericd, upon the completion of their operations. These amounts will
be settled when rehabilitation is undertaken, generally at the end of a project life, which ranges
from 10 to 15 years.

The Directors consider that adequate provision has been made at the end of each reporting
period.

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statements of financial position represents:

At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'0C0 RMB'000
Income tax payable at 1 January 5101 8,993 8,146 33125
Provision for the year/period {Noie 8(a)) 12,241 8,346 33,951 25,552
Income {ax paid (8,349) {9,193) (8,972) (22,040)
Net balance of income tax payable at end of
the year/period 8,993 8,146 33,125 36,637
Represented by:
Income tax recoverable {included in tax
recoverable) (Nofe 19) {2,183) (2,709} (1,723) (2,494)
Income tax payable 11,176 10,855 34,848 39,131
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28 Income tax in the consolidated statements of financial position(continued)

(d) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position

At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Net deferred tax assets 6,405 14,459 11,041 12,199

Net deferred tax liabilities (3,442) - (2,944) {(4,758)
2,963 14,459 §,097 7,441

(e} Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(q), the Group has not recognised
deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative unused tax losses and deductible temporary
differences arising from certain subsidiaries of the Group of RMB1,718,000, RMB9,665,000,
RMB3,645,000 RMB4,831,000 as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025,
respectively, as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can be
utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

The year of expiry of unused tax losses not recognised is as follows:

At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Year of expiry:
2027 1,530 1,530 1,438 1,438
2028 - 1,875 218 218
2029 - - 1,325 1,325
2030 - - - 828
Non expiry date - 4,734 - -
1,630 8,139 2,981 3,809

(f)  Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Pursuant to the relevant income tax law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
from subsidiaries in the PRC and DRC to Jinxun Singapore, and from subsidiaries in Singapore
and in Zambia to the Company. In addition, a 5% withholding tax is levied on dividends
declared from a subsidiary in Peru to the Company and Jinxun Singapore. As at 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, temporary difference unrecognised for deferred tax
liabilities relating to undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounied to RMB147,385,000,
RMB150,849,000 and RMB255,076,000 and RMB292,411,000, respectively. Deferred tax
liabilities of RMB14,739,000, RMB15,085,000 and RMB22,158,000 and RMB25,501,000,
have not been recognized in this respect as it is probable that such prefits will not be distributed
in the foreseeable fufure.
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29 Capital, reserves and dividends

(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the
Group's consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statements of changes in equity.
Details of the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity during the Track

Record Period are set out below:

At 1 January 2022
Changes in equity for 2022:

Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year

Appropriation fo reserves

Issue of shares, net of issuance cost
{Note 29(b})

Dividends declared (Note 29(c))

Stock dividends declared (Note 29(b))

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January
2023

Changes in equity for 2023

Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year

Appropriation to reserves

Employees share-based payments
{Note 30)

Dividends declared (Note 29(c))

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January
2024

Changes in equity for 2024:

Profit and fotal comprehensive income
for the year

Appropriation to reserves

Employees share-based payments
{Note 30)

Dividends declared {Note 29(c))

At 31 December 2024

(unaudited)
At 1 January 2024

Changes in equity for six months
ended 30 June 2024:

Profit and total comprehensive income
for the pericd

Appropriation to reserves

Employees share-based payments
(MNote 30)

Dividends declared (Note 29(c))

At 30 June 2024

Capital Statutory Retained
Share capital reserve reserve profits Total equity
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
{Note 29(b)) {Note 29(d}) (Note 29(e))

68,629 460 9,267 44 690 123,046

- - - 44,592 44,592

- - 4,459 (4,459) -

7,353 40,995 - - 48,348
- - - (6,863) (6,863)

34,315 - - (34,315) -
110,297 41,455 13,726 43,645 209,123
- - - 40,433 40,433

- - 4,043 (4,043) -

- 623 - - 623
- - - (4,412) (4,412)
110,297 42,078 17,769 75,623 245767
- - - 66,001 66,001

- - 6,600 {6,600) -

- 470 - - 470
- - - (60,663) {60,663)
110,297 42,548 24,369 74,361 251,575
110,297 42,078 17,769 75,623 245,767
- - - 56,483 56,483

- - 5,648 (5,648) -

- 236 - - 236
- - - (5,515} (5,515)

110,297 42,314 23,417 120,943 296,971
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29 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

Capital Statutory Retained
Share capital reserve reserve profits Total equity
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'00G

(Note 29(b))  (Note 29(d})  (Note 29(e))
At1 January 2025 110,297 42,548 24,369 74,381 251,575

Changes in equity for six months
ended 30 June 2025:

Profit and total comprehensive income

for the period - - - 66,271 66,271
Appropriation to reserves - - 6,627 (6,627) -
Employees share-based payments

(Note 30) - 327 - - 327
At 30 June 2025 110,207 42,875 30,996 134,005 318,173

(b) Share capital
Number of
shares Amount
RMB’'000
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid

At 1 January 2022 68,629,022 68,629
Stock dividends declared (Note (i) 34,314,511 34,315
Issuance of ordinary shares (Note (ii)) 7,353,110 7,353

At 31 December 2022, 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2024 and 30 June 2025 110,256,643 110,297

Notes:

(i) On 16 May 2022, stock dividends in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 of 0.5
stock dividend per share, in an aggregate 34,314,511 shares stock dividends was
approved by the sharehoiders of the Company.

(i)  On 22 December 2022, the Company entered into a capital increase agreement with an
independent investor, namely Chuanghe Xincai, pursuant to which the investor made
capital injection of RMB50,000,000 in the Company as consideration for subscription of
7,353,110 shares of the Company. The proceeds, net of related fees and expenses of
RMB1,651,000, from the subscription amounted to RMB48,349,000, RMB7,353,000 and
RMB40,995,000 were credited in the Company’s share capital and capital reserve
account, respectively.
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{c)

(d)

(e)

(h

Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)
Dividends

In May 2022, stock dividends and cash dividends in respect of the year ended 31 December
2021 of 0.5 stock dividends per share and RMBO.1 per share, in an aggregate 34,314,511
shares stock dividends and RMBG,863,000 cash dividends were approved by the shareholders
of the Company.

In May 2023, cash dividends in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 of RMB0.04 per
share, in an aggregate RMB4,412,000 was approved by the shareholders of the Company.

In May 2024, cash dividends in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 of RMB0.05 per
share, in an aggregate RMB5,515,000 was approved by the shareholders of the Company.

In August 2024, cash dividends in respect of the six-months ended 30 June 2024 of RMBO0.5
per share, in an aggregate RMB55,148,000 was approved by the shareholders of the
Company.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises; (i) the difference between the carrying value of the net assets
acquired and the consideration paid for the acquisition of a business under common control;
(i) the differences between the net proceeds of issuance of ordinary shares and the share
capital of the Company; and (iii} share-based payments expenses.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant the PRC laws and regulations, the Company and the
Company's subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are required to transfer 10% of their net
profits each year to the statutory reserve until the reserve reaches 50% of the registered
capital. The statuary reserve can be utilised in setting off accumulated losses or increase
capital and is non-distributable other than in liquidation.

Exchange reserve
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of the companies comprising the Group info the Group’s

presentation currency. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies
sef out in Note 2(t).
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Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)
Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
henefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the level
of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital struciure to maintain a
balance between the higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to exiernally imposed capital
requirements during the Track Record Period.

Share-based payments

Ji'an County Heli Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership) (‘S ZESENGES

Bday (BIEAE)) (“Heli Investment”) was established as an investment platform with the

purpose of implementing employee share-based incentives. The general partner of Heli
Investment is Mr. Yuan Rong who held 10% shares of Heli Invesiment, and the remaining
shares of Heli Invesiment was primarily held by Ms. Yuan Mei.

In January 2023, certain share interests of Heli Investment (equivalent to 1,230,000 shares of
the Company) were transferred from Ms. Yuan Mei to certain employees at a price of RMB3.10
per share fo encourage and retain eligible persons to make contributions in the long-term
growth of the Group, which was accounted for as equity settled share-based payment. The fair
value of the shares transferred was RMB6.80 per share which was estimated with reference
to the price of the capital increase of an independent investor in December 2022 (see Note
29(b){ii)). The difference with the transfer price is {o be recognized in staff costs over the
vesting period from January 2023 to June 2029,

In March 2025, certain share interests of Heli Investment (equivalent to 371,000 shares of the
Company) were transferred from Ms. Yuan Mei to certain employees at a price of RMB8.20
per share to encourage and retain eligible persons to make contributions in the long-term
growth of the Group, which was accounted for as equity settled share-based payment. The fair
value of the shares transferred was RMB12.00 per share which was estimated with reference
to the offer price range for the proposed initial public offering of the Company. The difference
with the transfer price is to be recognized in staff costs over the vesting period from March
2025 to April 2030.
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(@

Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, commodity and currency risks arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business. The Group is not exposed to significant interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices
used by the Group to manage these risks are described below.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to frade receivables at amortised cost and trade receivables at FVTPL,
other receivables, time deposit and bank balances. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
Group's management continuously monitors the level of exposure to ensure that follow up
action is taken to recover overdue debts.

Except for trade receivables at FVTPL, the Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets and other items under ECL model individually. Individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. After individual credit evaluations, the Directors
consider that the rest of the Group’s credit risk is insignificant.

Trade receivables at FVTPL

As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, the Group’s trade receivables at
FVTPL were debtors with an aggregate amount of RMB43,161,000, RMB25,084,000 and
RMB368,517,000 and RMB39,743,000.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of
each customer rather than the industry in which the customers operate. At 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, 59%, 27% and 74% and 65% of the tfotal trade
receivables at FVTPL, respectively, was due from the Group’s largest debtor from sales of
copper products, and 100%, 85% and 98% and 96% of the total trade receivables at FVTPL,
respectively, was due from the five largest debtors from sales of copper products. In order o
manage the credit risk, the Group continuously monitor the level of exposure by ongoing review
of credit records of customers to take follow-up actions on the balances of trade receivables.
These customers are large and reputable in the market and they have been trading with the
Group with good settlement history.
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(ii)

(i)

Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments {continued)
Trade receivables at amortised cost

As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, included in the Group's trade
receivables at amortised cost balance were debtors with an aggregate amount of
RMB1,244,000, RMB517.000 and RMB278,000 and RMB2,316,000 and were assessed for
impairment at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024
and 30 June 2025, impairment allowance of RMB70,000, RMB26,000 and RMB14,000 and
RMB 112,000 were made on these debtors.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of
each customer rather than the industry in which the customers operate. At 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, 45%, 62% and 100% and 57% of the total trade
receivables at amortised cost, respectively, was due from the Group's largest debtor from sales
of goods other than copper products, and 100%, 100% and 100% and 100% of the total trade
receivables at amortised cost, respectively, was due from the five largest debtors from sales
of goods other than copper products. In order to manage the credit risk, the Group continuously
monitor the level of exposure by ongoing review of credit records of customers to take follow-
up actions on the balances of trade receivables. These customers are large and reputable in
the market and they have been trading with the Group with good settlement history.

For trade receivables at amortised cost, the Group has applied the simplified approach in IFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime.

Bank balances and the time deposit

Credit risk on bank halances and the time deposit is limited because the counterparty banks
and financial institutions are with good reputation. Thus, the Directors considered that the
probability of default is negligible for the bank balances and the time deposit of the Group and
no expected credit loss was recognised as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June
2025.

For all other financial assets including other receivables the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition where the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The Group has assessed
and concluded that the risk of default rate for the aforementioned other financial assets is close
to zero based on the Group’s assessment of the financiai health of the counterpariies, except
for deposits, input VAT receivables, receivables from third parties and related party amounting
to RMB86,075,000, RMB97,539,000 and RMB88,877,000 and RMB136,452,000 as at 31
December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025 which was credit impaired and assessed
individually, and the impairment allowance of RMB10,693,000, RMB30,166,000 and
RMB9,394,000 and RMB18,390,000 was recognised in the Consolidated financial statements
as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025.
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(iv)

(v)

Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments (continued})

Movements in the loss allowance, all of which are relating to trade receivables at amortised
cost is as follows:

At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

1 January 770 70 26 14
Impairment (reversal)/recognised (734) (44) (12) 98
Exchange adjustments 34 - - -
At end of the year/period 70 26 14 112

Movements in the loss allowance all of which are relating to other receivables at amortised
cost is as follows:

At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

1 January 7,443 10,693 30,166 9,394
Impairment recognised/{reversal) 2,808 19,291 (3,082} 9,062
Amount written off as uncollectible - - (17,842} -
Exchange adjustments 442 182 152 (66)
At end of the year/period 10,693 30,166 0,364 18,390
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(b)

Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments (continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets, which are

subject to ECL assessment:

Financial assets at amortised cost

Trade receivables at amortised cost

Other receivables

Loans granted to an associate

Input VAT receivables

Bank balances
Time deposit

Liquidity risk

Noles

18

19

19

19

20
20

12-month or
lifetime ECL

Lifetime ECL
Credit impaired

12-month ECL
Credit impaired

12-month ECL
Credit impaired

12-month ECL
Credit impaired

12-month ECL
12-month ECL

At 31 December At 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
1,174 491 264 2,204
70 26 14 112
1,244 517 278 2,316
4,876 7,106 18,591 31,256
5,035 7,202 1,267 1,494
9,911 14,308 16,858 32,750
9,423 - - -
993 11,582 - -
10,416 11,582 - -
61,083 60,267 60,992 86,806
4,665 11,382 8,127 16,896
65,748 71,649 69,119 103,702
79,062 39,876 123,901 126,510
- - 5,000 6,050
79,062 39,876 128,901 132,560
166,381 137,932 218,156 271,328

The treasury function is centrally managed by the Group, which includes the short-term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands.

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in

the short and longer term.
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Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments (continued)

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of reporting period
of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to

pay:

31 December 2022
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

Bank and other borrowings

Trade payables designated at
FVTPL

Lease liabilities

Financial liabilities designed at
FVTPL - Copper futures contracts

31 December 2023

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables

Bank and other borrowings

Trade payables designated at
FVTPL

Lease liabilities

Financial liabilities designed at
FVTPL - Copper futures contracts

31 December 2024

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables

Bank and other borrowings

Trade payables designated at
FVTPL

Lease liabilities

30 June 2025

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

Bank and other borrowings

Trade payables designated at
FVTPL

Lease liahilities

Weighted
average
interest rate
%

5.78%

4.75%

5.87%

4.75%

5.85%

4.75%

6.65%

4.75%

Over

On demand & months Total
or less than  but not more 2i05 unhdiscounted Carrying
6 months than 1 year 1o 2 years years cash fows amounts
RMB'0G0 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
101,730 - - - 101,730 101,730
30,030 55,755 6,080 - 91,865 87,389
28,481 - - - 28,481 28,481
160,241 55,755 6,080 - 222,076 217,600
376 375 500 66 1,317 1,224
246 - - - 246 246
140,741 - - - 140,741 140,741
155,860 44,891 13,136 6,066 219,953 213,211
82,036 - - - 82,036 82,036
378,637 44,851 13,136 6,068 442,730 435,988
130 130 79 - 339 328
66 - - - 66 66
171,727 - - - 171,727 171,727
162,589 49,012 25,405 40,766 278,672 268,627
271,527 - - - 271,627 271,527
505,843 49,912 25,405 40,768 721,926 711,881
46 45 - - €1 ele}
191,280 - - - 191,290 191,280
121,351 59,752 21,273 53,124 255,500 245,186
161,248 - - - 191,248 191,248
503,889 59,752 21,273 53,124 638,038 627,724
99 62 125 31 587 540
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(c)

{d)

Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments (continued)
Commodity risk

The Group's commodity price risk is mainly the exposure to fluctuations in the prevailing market
price of copper which are the major commodities purchased, produced and sold by the Group.
To minimise this risk, the Group enters into copper futures contracts and provisional price
arrangement to manage the Group’s exposure in relation to forecasted sales of copper
products, forecasted purchases of copper concentrates, inventories and firm commitments to
sell the Group's copper products.

Financial assets and liabilities of the Group whose fair value change in line with the fluctuations
in the prevailing market price of copper mainly comprise copper futures contracts and
provisional price arrangements. If all prices of copper futures had been increased by 10%, with
all other variables held constant, the impact on the Group’s total equity apart from retained
profits and the potential effect on profit after tax is as would be as follows:

Six months

Years ended 31 December ended 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

Increase in profit for the year/period 7178 18,839 10,758 17,862

There would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit after tax for the year/period if there
had been 10% decrease in all prices of copper futures.

Currency risk

The Group has transactional exchange rate risk exposures mainly arising from sales or
purchases by subsidiaries in currencies other than the subsidiaries’ functional currencies.
The Group has subsidiaries using USD and RMB as their functional currencies. These
subsidiaries have transactions in currencies other than their functional currencies. In addition,
the Group has exchange rate exposures arising from foreign currency borrowings. The
Group adopts an overall management on its foreign exchange business.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s USD, RMB, ZMW, CDF, SGD and SOL denominated
monetary assets (including financial assets, intercompany receivables and input VAT
receivables) and liabilities (including financial liabilities, intercompany payables and tax
payables) which expose the Group to foreign currency risk are as follows:

Six months
Years ended 31 December ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
USD denominated monetary assets 171,541 204,960 239,483 271,481
USD denominated monetary liabilities {16,038} {10,835) (16,520) (33,946)
RMB denominated monetary assets 65 65 1,214 399
RMB denominated monetary liabilities - {(14) {57) {57}
SGD denominated monetary assets 136 72 78 373
ZMW denominated monetary assets 81,377 64,354 54,514 75,034
ZMWV denominated monetary liabilities (534) (704) (10,804) {5,282)
CDF denominated monetary assets 1 392 5045 72
CDF denominated monetary liabilities - (3,833) (29,347} (26,769)
SOL denominated monetary assets 3,870 2,187 12,415 20,082
SOL denominated monetary liabilities (378) {382) (1,736} (262)
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Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments (continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should the need arise.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to exchange rates
of USD, RMB, ZMW, CDF and SOL against functional currency. For a 5%, a 10%, and a 15%
weakening of USD, ZMW, CDF and SOL against functional currency and all other variables
being held constant, there would have no material impact on the Group's total equity apart
from the retained profits and the effect on the Group’s profit after tax are as follows:

Six months
Years ended 31 December ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
(Decrease)/increase in profit for the year/period
usD
Weakening
-5% (5,831) {7,280) {8,361) (8,908)
-10% (11,663) {14,559) {16,722) {17,815)
-15% (17,494) (21,839) (25,083) (26,723)
RMB
Weakening
-5% @ (2} (43) {13)
-10% (5} (4} (87) (26)
-15% {7} (6} (130) {39)
sSGD
Weakening
5% (5) (3) {3) {14)
-10% (10} (5) {6) {28)
-15% (15) 8 {9) {42)
ZMw
Weakening
-5% (2,282) (2,387) (1,635) (2,616)
-10% {4,563) 4,774) (3.271) (5,231)
-15% (6,845) (7,161) (4,906} (7.847)
CDF
Weakening
-5% - 129 911 1,001
-10% (W] 258 1,823 2,002
-15% W] 387 2,734 3,003
SOL
Weakening
-5% (131) (67) {400) (743}
-10% (262) (135) {801) (1,487)
-15% (3983) (202) (1,201) (2,230}
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(e)

Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments (continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above fable represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effects on each of the Group entities’ profit after tax and retained profits
measured in their respective functional currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange rates
ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been applied
to remeasure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk at the end of the reporting period, including inter-company payables and
receivables within the Group which are denominated in a currency other than the functional
currencies of the lender or the borrower. The analysis excludes differences that would result
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency.

Fair value measurement

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial instruments measured at
the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to the observability and significance of
the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair vailue measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are not available.

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.

83



31

Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments (continued)

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent
to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the level to which the fair

value is observable:

31 December 2022

Financial liabilities - Copper future
contracts (Note (i)}

Trade receivables at FVTPL
(Note (ii})

Trade payables designated at
FVTPL (Note (i)

31 December 2023

Financial liabilities - Copper future
contracts (Note (i)

Trade receivables at FVTPL
{Note (i)

Trade payables designated at
FVTPL {Note (i)

31 December 2024

Trade receivables at FVTPL
(Note (if))

Trade payables designated at
FVTPL (Note (ii}}

30 June 2025

Financial liabilities-non-ferrous
metal future contracts (Mote (i})

Trade receivables at FVTPL
(Nofe (ii)

Trade payables designated at
FVTPL (Nofe (ii))

Notes:

tevel 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RMB’'000 RMEB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
248 - - 246

- 43,161 - 43,161

- 28,481 - 28,481

66 - - 66

- 25,084 - 25,084

- 82,036 - 82,036

- 36,517 - 36,517

- 271,527 - 271,527

107 - - 107

- 39,743 - 39,743

- 191,248 - 191,248

(i) Calcuiated based on the initial transaction prices and quoted prices in an active market.

(i) Calculated based on the quoted prices in an active market and the estimated grades of
copper, gold and silver in Group’s copper products.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 in the year/period.

Except as detailed above, the Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost recognised in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.
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33
(a)

Commitments

Capital commitments outstanding at respective reporting period end dates not provided for in
the consolidated financial statements were as follows:

At 31 December At 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Capital expenditure in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment
contracted for but not provided in the
consaolidated financiaf statements 205,533 123,383 68,914 2,718

Material related party transactions
Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the

Company's directors and supervisors as disclosed in Note 9 and certain of the highest paid
employees as disciosed in Note 10, is as follows:

Years ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'0C0 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)

Salaries and other emoluments 1,469 1,864 2,008 974 1,064

Discretionary bonuses 521 277 302 198 150
Employees share-based compensation

scheme: - 121 121 60 60

Retirement scheme contributions 142 129 128 64 65

2,132 2,391 2,559 1,296 1,339

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (See Note 7(b)).

{b) Names and relationships of the related patties that had material transactions with the

Group during the Track Record Period:

Names of related parties Relationship
Jiangwu Jinxun An associate of the Group
Mr. Yuan Rong Ultimate controlling party
Ms. LiuLi The spouse of Mr. Yuan Rong
Ms. Yuan Mei Key management personnel of the Group and sister of Mr. Yuan Rong
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(c)

(d)

34

35

Material related party transactions (continued)

Transactions with related parties during the Track Record Period

Years ended 31 December

Six months ended 30 June

2022 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
from Jiangwu Jinxun - 1,116
Lease charges relating to short-ferm leases
to Jiangwu Jinxun 222 155
Interest income from Jiangwu Jinxun 941 986

2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
(unaudited}

Balances with related parties

The Group's balances with related parties as at the end of each reporting period are as follows:

At 31 December At 3¢ June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Trade in nature;
Trade payables at amortised cost from
Jiangwu Jinxun 230 1,277 - -
Non-trade in nature:
Gross amounts of other receivables from
Jiangwu Jinxun (Note 19) 10,416 11,582 - -
Guarantees provided by Mr. Yuan Rong, and/or
Ms, Liu Li and/or Ms. Yuan Mei for the
Group's bank and other borrowings (Notfe 24) 48,584 62,527 110,777 47,156

Subsequent to 30 June 2025, all of guarantees provided by the related parties for the

Group's bank loans were released.

Immediate and ultimate controlling party

At 30 June 2025, the directors consider the immediate and ultimate controlling party of the

Group o be Mr. Yuan Rong.

Subsequent events

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a interim dividend in respect of the six months
ended 30 June 2025 of RMB0.28 per share, in an aggregate amount of RMB30,883,000 which
was approved by extraordinary general meeting on 12 September 2025,

86



36

Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the accounting period beginning on 1 January 2025

Up to date of issue of the consolidated financial statements, the IASB has issued a number of
new or amended standards which are not yet effective for the accounting period beginning on
1 January 2025 and which have not been adopted in the consolidated financial statements.
These include the following:

Effective for
accounting period
beginning on or after

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 -Amendments to the 1 January 2026
classification and measurement of financial instruments

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7, Contracts Referencing Nature- 1 January 2026
dependent Electricity

Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards-Volume 11 1 January 2026

IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027

IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures 1 January 2027

Amendments to IFRS 10 and 1AS 28, Sale or contribution of assets To be determined

between an investor and its associate or joint venture

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
developments is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements

IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements and aims to improve the
transparency and comparability of information about an entity’s financial statements.

IFRS 18 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 and is
to be applied retrospectively. Among other changes, under IFRS 18, entities are required to
classify all income and expenses into five categories in the statement of profit or loss, namely
the operating, investing, financing, discontinued operations and income tax categories. Entities
are also required to provide specific disclosures about management-defined performance
measures in a single note in the financial statements.

The Group does not plan to early adopt IFRS 18. IFRS 18 will impact the presentation of

financial statements and is not expected to have significant impact on the financial
performance and positions of the Group.
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